
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday 30th July 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 4 - 10

To consider the Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held on 25th June 
2019. 

6.  2020/21 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 11 - 14

To consider the 2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme. 

Public Document Pack



7.  FINANCE UPDATE REPORT 2019/20 15 - 22

To consider the Finance Update Report 2019/20. 

8.  BUDGET 2020/21 TO 2022/23 GUIDELINES, TIMETABLE AND 
PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

23 - 43

To consider the Budget 2020/21 to 2022/23 Guidelines, Timetable and 
Public Engagement. 

9.  DISPOSAL OF LAND AT STARKEY STREET / LANGTON STREET 
HEYWOOD 

44 - 46

To consider the disposal of land at Starkey Street / Langton Street 
Heywood. 

10.  EXTRA SCHOOL PLACES - DETERMINATION OF STATUTORY 
PROPOSALS FOR ENLARGEMENTS AND SEN RESOURCED 
PROVISION, AND ADDITIONAL CAPACITY 

47 - 54

To consider matters relating to extra school places - Determination of 
Statutory Proposals for Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, 
and Additional Capacity. 

11.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A) 4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

12.  LAND AT WILLIAM STREET AND TONGE MEADOW, MIDDLETON 55 - 61

To consider matters relating to land at William Street and Tonge 
Meadow, Middleton. 

13.  APPENDIX 1 - EXTRA SCHOOL PLACES - DETERMINATION OF 
STATUTORY PROPOSALS FOR ENLARGEMENTS AND SEN 
RESOURCED PROVISION, AND ADDITIONAL CAPACITY 

62



Cabinet Members
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Carol Wardle

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James – Governance and Committee Services

Telephone: 01706 924711
E-mail: alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk 



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday 25th June 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Brett (Chair); Councillors Daalat Ali, Neil Emmott, 
Emsley, Iftikhar Ahmed, Blundell, Heakin and Wardle

OFFICERS:  Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Neil Thornton (Director of 
Resources), Mark Widdup (Director of Neighbourhoods), John Searle 
(Director of Economy), David Wilcock (Assistant Director – Legal, Governance 
and Workforce), Danny Brierley, Michael Brook, Peter Maynard, Robert Scott, 
Martin Taylor and Ian Trickett (Neighbourhoods Directorate), Keith McKenzie 
and Alison James (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Robinson

APOLOGIES
13 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rowbotham.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
14 There were no declarations of interest.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
15 There were no urgent items of business.

MINUTES
16 Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 28th May 2019 be
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

ENFORCEMENT AGENT PROCUREMENT
17 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Resources which 
informed Members that the enforcement agent and debt collection services 
contract expires on 31 October 2019 and that a new contract needs to be 
procured.

Alternatives considered:

The Council could choose not to employ external companies to collect the 
debts, but this would require an additional staffing resource to maintain 
collection levels. If no additional staff were employed, arrears would 
significantly increase.

Resolved:

1. That approval be given to commence procurement using a mini-
competition against a Government approved procurement framework. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



In this case, a framework from Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council.

2. That the Director of Resources, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Director of STaR Procurement, be authorised 
to conclude and agree the contract awards, following the completion of 
the procurement exercise.

Reasons for the decision:

The current enforcement agent and debt collection services contract which 
commenced on 1 November 2014 is due to expire on 31 October 2019. 
Discussions had taken place with STaR Procurement and they were 
recommending using a mini-competition against a Rotherham Council 
procurement framework.

The services are required to collect the following debts - Council Tax, National 
Non-Domestic Rates (business rates), Housing Benefit overpayments and 
sundry debts due to the Council.

Eligible for call in – yes

BOROUGH OF ROCHDALE (148 DRAKE STREET, ROCHDALE) 
COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2019
18 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
seeking approval of a proposed Compulsory Purchase Order for 148 Drake 
Street, Rochdale.

Alternatives considered:

The following alternatives had been considered:

 To continue with negotiations with the owner of the property – this was 
not considered to be likely to bring the building back into use.

 To do nothing – this was not acceptable due to the negative amenity 
impact an empty property in a prominent position near the railway 
station and town centre, and particularly since the incidences of 
breaking and entering and the resulting criminal activity.

Resolved:

1. That the making of the “Borough of Rochdale (148 Drake Street, 
Rochdale) Compulsory Purchase Order 2019” utilising powers 
contained in Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 be approved;

2. That the Assistant Director of Legal, Governance and Workforce and 
the Director of Economy be authorised to undertake the necessary 

Page 5



legal procedures and associated action in relation to the Order listed at 
paragraph 2.1 and described in Appendix 1 of the submitted report;

3. That consideration has been given to the implications of the Human 
Rights Act 1998, and that Cabinet does not consider there to be a 
breach of the Act if compulsory acquisition of the land within the Order 
described in paragraph 2.1 and Appendix 1 of the submitted report is 
authorised.

Reasons for the decision:

Given the long-term dereliction of the building and the lack of ability on the 
part of the owner to bring the site back into productive use, a Compulsory 
Purchase Order is considered to be the only mechanism available to the 
Council to facilitate development of the site.

The Council’s Empty Property Team has been in contact with the owner since 
April 2014 in an effort to facilitate redevelopment. However the owner has not 
been willing or able to invest the necessary capital to bring the building back 
into use.

The building was purchased by the current owner in March 2010 for £85,000. 
In April 2014, the Council commissioned a feasibility study on options for 
redevelopment. Two options were proposed:

Option 1 – Demolition of existing building and construction of 6 x 1 bedroom 
apartments with an estimated cost of £390,000.

Option 2 – Conversion of existing building into 8 x 1 bedroom apartments, with 
an estimated cost of £380,000.

In July 2014, the Council presented the owner with two options:

Option 1 – The Council purchase the property at market value plus 
compensation for loss

Option 2 – The Council complete external refurbishment work at a cost of 
£12,000.

The owner chose Option 2, agreeing to place the property on the market for 
sale following completion of the external refurbishment. This has not 
happened, but the owner has repaid the reimbursement costs in full. 

In October 2017, planning permission was granted for conversion to 8 x 1 
bedroom apartments. However, 20 months later, no substantive work has 
been completed, and the Council understands that it is highly unlikely that the 
approved plans will be executed and the building brought back into use.

The building was recently broken into, resulting in crime and anti-social 
behaviour including objects thrown at passing cars. As a result, the building 

Page 6



was secured by the Council’s Building Control service. This further 
demonstrates the necessity of bringing the building into active use, and in the 
shorter term, the Council acquiring the building in order to properly secure it 
on an ongoing basis. 

The Council made an offer to purchase the property at market value in April 
2019 but this was rejected. 

Eligible for call in - yes

GREATER MANCHESTER BEENETWORK
19 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
informed Members that the Bee Network is Greater Manchester’s proposed 
new cycling and walking network which will connect every neighbourhood in 
Greater Manchester across all ten local authority areas.  The Bee Network 
Plan shows what is required to deliver such a network.  It is a plan of what is 
needed: not necessarily what is possible to deliver.  The Plan shows Greater 
Manchester’s ambition for Cycling & Walking and will guide GM’s approach to 
securing funding for, and the delivery of, Cycling & Walking infrastructure over 
the coming years.

Alternatives considered:

No alternatives had been considered.

Resolved:

1. That the process by which version 2.1 of the Plan was generated and 
updated be endorsed.

Reasons for the decision:

To provide approval by each District in Greater Manchester for the Bee 
Network.

Eligible for call in – yes

INTRODUCTION OF NEW VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS
20 Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Resources which 
informed Members that the Local Government Association (LGA) had been 
commissioned to conduct a review of the current Values and Behaviours, 
contained within the ‘Rochdale Way’. Between November and December the 
LGA conducted a number of focus groups and one-to-one interviews and met 
with over 100 people including staff from across the Council & CGG, Elected 
Members, senior managers and Trade Union representatives. On the basis of 
this review, the LGA were recommending replacing the Rochdale Way with 
three new Values and associated Behaviours. 

The proposed values were: Proud, Passionate, and Pioneering & Open.

Page 7



Alternatives considered:

No alternatives had been considered.

Resolved:

1. That Cabinet recommends that the new values and behaviours be 
approved by Council (and CCG Governing Body);

2. That the implementation suggestions from the LGA be accepted 
subject to some additional focus on implementing and embedding the 
new values, for example training on diversity and equalities.

Reasons for the decision:

The suggested new values resonate more closely with Rochdale than the 
existing ‘Rochdale Way’ values.

Eligible for call in – no 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
21 Resolved:

That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration
of the following item of business, in accordance with the provisions of
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Reason for Decision:

Should the press and public remain during the following item of business
there may be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under
Part 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

FALINGE PARK - PROPOSED COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER
22 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Neighbourhoods to 
grant the lease of Falinge Park to Vintage Worx Community Development 
Trust (Vintage Worx CDT).

Alternatives considered:

The Council could continue to manage and maintain the park.  The Council 
has previously failed to attract funding to restore the façade and lacks 
resources to move the project forward.  There is space and buildings in the 
park that the Council cannot afford to occupy and maintain.  The park could 
see on ongoing gradual decline into disrepair.

The whole of the park could be transferred immediately by way of long term 
lease. This would likely overburden the project before it has chance to get off 
the ground as there is no revenue funding available and insufficient income 
generation to enable Vintage Worx CDT to adequately manage the park. 

Page 8



There is a risk that Vintage Worx CDT would have a long term lease of a 
Council asset irrespective of whether they are able to deliver the project or not 
and it would prove difficult to bring back the park into Council ownership 
during the term of the lease unless Vintage Worx CDT would be agreeable to 
an early surrender of that lease.   

The Council could approve the long term vision for the park and allow other 
organisations to bid to deliver different phases. This could see the park being 
brought back to use in a shorter timescale but could lead to a less cohesive 
regeneration.

Resolved:

1. That the long term vision and plan for Falinge Park be supported;

2. That approval be given to the grant the lease (in phases) of Falinge 
Park to Vintage Worx CDT.  This would confirm the original decision by 
Cabinet to grant a provisional lease subject to the delivery and review 
of a detailed business which as far as practicable satisfies the Council 
that it will sufficiently support the group’s development aspirations for 
the park.

3. That the grant of subsequent leases be delegated to the Director of 
Neighbourhoods in consultation with the Portfolio Holders for 
Resources and Environment;

4. That the Head of Legal Services be authorised to prepare the 
appropriate legal documents and execute such documents on behalf of 
the Council as required.

Reasons for the decision:

Vintage Worx CDT has, in consultation with the Council, put together an 
ambitious regeneration plan for Falinge Park which aims to tackle both the 
physical park asset and the economic and social deprivation in the 
surrounding area.  

Vintage Worx CDT is seeking to raise significant funding to refurbish and 
regenerate the valued historic public asset which is Falinge Park.  The funding 
bodies will need to know that the Council is supportive of the proposals before 
they would release the required funds.  The recommendation of the granting 
of the lease/leases to Vintage Worx CDT would vest the interest in Falinge 
Park in Vintage Worx CDT as a Community Asset Transfer (CAT) and would 
allow them to draw down grants to implement the business case over a 
number of years.

If successful, the planned ongoing activities relating to training, small business 
start-ups and also events will provide an income stream for the group to help 
facilitate its ongoing management model.  The group hopes to use this CAT 
as a catalyst to address a number of underlying issues within the local area 

Page 9



which relate to a perceived lack of inclusiveness, improve community 
cohesion, improve skills to address unemployment, contribute to improved 
health & wellbeing as well as reducing anti-social behaviour, local crime and 
fear of crime by park users. 

Eligible for call in - yes

Page 10



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th July 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document Public

2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme

Executive Summary

1. This report proposes changes to the Council’s Local Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2020/21. The changes are proposed so that the scheme remains 
fit for purpose for working age residents in receipt of Universal Credit.

The report seeks approval from Cabinet Members to formally consult on a 
proposal to change the scheme for residents in receipt of Universal Credit.

Non-working age claimants (pensioners) and working age claimants not in 
receipt of Universal Credit are not affected by the proposal in this report.

Recommendation

2. Cabinet is requested to approve the proposal contained in this report and 
grant permission to the start of a formal consultation exercise to take place 
between 12 August and 20 October 2019 (10 weeks).

Reason for Recommendation

3. A big change introduced by Universal Credit (UC) is that any changes in a 
claimant’s income, however small, will be reported to the Council. Under the 
2019/20 Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) scheme this means the Council 
must reassess their claim every time a change in income is notified. This in 
turn means a new council tax bill is issued, with a change to the payment plan. 
Current figures suggest an average of four changes reported per UC claim 
each year although it could be as many as twelve changes each year for 
fluctuating monthly incomes.

To make the Council’s LCTS scheme easier to understand and to avoid 
creating a new council tax bill every time a small change in UC income is 
reported, a new banded income scheme is recommended (details are shown 
in section 4 below). This would mean that where a change in a resident’s UC 
income fell within the same weekly income band as their previous UC income 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



was in; no change would be made to their LCTS award. In turn no new LCTS 
award letters or council tax bills would need to be issued.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Officers have explored various financial models for banded income schemes 
that meet the objectives, whilst remaining cost neutral.

The following model for a banded income scheme is proposed: 

For a person entitled to Universal Credit, if their weekly income is below or the 
same as their applicable amount(1), or £10.00 over, their Local Council Tax 
Support will be the maximum amount, currently 85% of council tax liability 
capped at Band A (adjusted as appropriate for non-dependant deductions), as 
now. 

For those whose weekly income is £10.01 or more higher than their applicable 
amount(1), their Local Council Tax Support will be at the level set in the table 
below (less any non-dependant deduction), which will vary as the excess 
income increases.

(1) The applicable amount is set annually by Government and takes into 
account a number of factors, for example, single, couple, lone parent, age, 
disabilities, etc….

Band of weekly income Council Tax Support*
Applicable amount (or less) to £10.00 85% of council tax **
£10.01 to £25.00 75% of council tax **
£25.01 to £45.00 60% of council tax **
£45.01 to £65.00 45% of council tax **
£65.01 to £85.00 25% of council tax **
£85.01 to £100.00 10% of council tax **
£100.01+ No Support

*   this is the amount before any reduction for non-dependents
** council tax liability capped at Band A                                                                                 

Based on the current Universal Credit Local Council Tax Support caseload of 
4,610, the impact of this proposal would be as follows;

No change 3,177 (69%)
Increased awards 1,103 (24%)
Reduced awards*    330 (7%)
* lose less than £1 per week      93
* lose between £1 and £5 per week    237

To facilitate the transition to the banded income scheme it is proposed that a 
hardship fund payment is made available to all claimants (currently 330) who 
would receive a reduced award. This is currently forecast to cost £32,979.96.
 

Page 12



4.1 Alternatives Considered

The current Local Council Tax Support scheme could continue unchanged for 
2020/21. As outlined above, this would create confusion and uncertainty for 
Universal Credit customers. The number of customers affected is currently 
4,610, but this will increase to around 6,000 by April 2020 and further increase 
during the 2020/21 and later financial years. Every change in income, however 
small, would result in a new council tax bill being issued with an amended 
payment plan. The average number of changes per year is currently four, but 
some customers will have as many as twelve changes in a year.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. A significant amount of modelling has been undertaken based on the current 
Local Council Tax Support caseload. The change being proposed in this 
report is expected to be cost neutral. This includes the proposed hardship fund 
payment.

Risk and Policy Implications

There is a risk the proposed scheme may be subject to legal challenge on 
the basis of The Equality Act 2010 if the proposed changes adversely impact 
upon service users with protected characteristics. To mitigate this, a 
consultation exercise will be carried out and an equality impact assessment 
will be undertaken. The outcome of consultation and the equality impact 
assessment will be reported to Council Members during the decision making 
process.

There are also some known risks;

There is a continued risk of increased demand resulting from higher take up, 
or increased numbers needing assistance or existing claimants’ income 
reducing that are the financial responsibility of the Council.

There is an increased risk due to the migration to Universal Credit. This is a 
risk where the future demands and impact cannot be determined with any 
certainty so will be subject to ongoing review in developing and adapting the 
scheme within budget constraints.

6.

Consultation

7. The Council has a duty to consult if it proposes to change its Local Council 
Tax Support scheme. Government’s recommendation is a minimum 
consultation period of 8 weeks, up to a maximum of 12 weeks. The 
consultation must include the precepting authorities in Greater Manchester 
(the Mayor’s Office, Fire and Police), as they have a financial interest.

It is proposed the consultation will take place between 12 August and 20 
October 2019 (10 weeks).
 
The results and appraisal of the consultation responses along with the final 

Page 13



proposals will be bought back for comment by Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 26 November 2019 and for approval by Cabinet on 3 
December 2019.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie Tel: 01706 926003, 
keith.mackenzie@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 14



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th July 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Stuart Smith (Resources 
Directorate)

Public/Private Document Public

Finance Update Report 2019/20

Executive Summary

To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
Council’s forecast 2019/20 financial position as at the end of May 2019.

1.1 The Finance Update Report contains detail of the following:

 Capital spend is forecast to be in line with budget after approved 
rephasing in Economy of £3.500m.

 The forecast Revenue position is a pressure of £4.805m.
 Savings of £0.135m are forecast to be achieved, as part of the 

Revenue budget.
 Forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund surplus position of £1.345m.

1.2 Effective financial management is essential if the Council is to keep spending 
within available resources. It is vital that services make adjustments in 
spending to ensure that they spend in line with the approved budget.

Recommendation

2.1 The forecast 2019/20 budget positions for Capital, Revenue, Savings and the 
Collection Fund as at the end of May 2019 are noted.

2.2 To note the capital scheme changes shown in section 4.1.2.

2.3 Cabinet note the approved rephasing request detailed in 4.1.3.

2.4 Cabinet approve the proposed virement detailed in 4.1.4.

2.5 Approval is given to the Revenue Budget Pressure Fund requests detailed in 
4.2.4.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Recommendation

3.1. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the 
authority, as effective budget management is critical to ensuring the financial 
resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 
Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 
against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action.

This report provides an overview of the forecast 2019/20 financial position for 
the Council and focuses on the position as at the end of May 2019.  A further 
detailed report will be provided at 1st October Cabinet.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Capital Budget 2019/20

The current 2019/20 Capital Budget is £134.887m.  The table below shows a 
summary of the movements:

£m £m £m
Base Budget as per Budget Council February 2019 84.730 56.979 26.430
Budget Changes - - -
Approved Balance brought forward from prior years 50.574 3.606 -
Revised allocation 3.083 - -
Rephasing Identified at the end of May 2019 (3.500) - -
CAPITAL BUDGET MAY 2019 134.887 60.585 26.430

2019/20 2021/222020/21

4.1.1 Brought Forward Budget

Services budgets brought forward from previous years which are greater than 
£1m are detailed in the table below:

Directorate Scheme
Rephasing of > £1m 
from Previous Years 

£m
Funding Method

Neighbourhoods
Vehicle Replacement 
Programme                                    1.191 Borrowing

Neighbourhoods Section 106                                    1.294 External Funding
Children's Devolved Formula Capital                                    1.146 External Funding
Children's Schools capital condition                                    2.751 External Funding
Children's New Place Planning                                    8.676 External Funding
Economy Asset Development Fund                                    1.921 Capital Receipts
Economy River Roch Flood Storage                                    3.157 Borrowing
Economy Town Centre Schemes                                    6.887 Borrowing
Economy Heywood South Junction 19                                    1.500 Capital Receipts
Economy Property Growth Fund                                 14.286 Invest to Save

TOTAL                                 42.808 

Page 16



4.1.2 Capital Budget Changes 

Details of revised allocations for scheme budgets are listed below:
 Children’s Services: £2.575m increase in Basic Need grant. £0.008m 

other minor grant increases.
 Neighbourhoods, Asset Management Group – reinstatement of 

£0.500m, provisionally reduced in 2018/19 and reported in September 
2018 Finance Update report.

4.1.3 Capital Rephasing

Economy
 Request to re-phase £3.500m into 2022/23 has been approved for 

Town Hall Square Phase 2 to align with the Town Hall Restoration 
project.

4.1.4 Capital Virement Request

Neighbourhoods

The cremators at the Rochdale and Middleton sites are at end of life with the 
Rochdale site requiring immediate replacement.   To address this immediate issue it 
is proposed to vire budget from existing schemes within the Place segment of the 
Neighbourhoods Directorate.  The list of proposed capital schemes is shown below:

Scheme Name
 Current Budget

£m 
Vehicle Replacement Programme 2.341
Replacement Parks & Machinery 0.189
Upgrade Play Equipment 0.084
Allotments 2017/18 Manifesto Funding 0.050
Waste Bin Replacement Program 0.358
Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair 0.066
New Cemetery Sites 0.602
Mercury Abatement Scheme 0.033
Housing Standards Fund 0.882
Compulsory Purchase Order 1.538
Travellers Authorised Stopping Site 0.130
Bowlee Park Development 0.012
Car Parks 0.199
Total Value of Place Segment Schemes 6.484

Members are asked to approve the virement of £0.943m from schemes above to the 
Asset Management Group scheme.  The final virement balances will not be 
confirmed until year end, once the 2019/20 crematorium spend is realised and the 
availability from other schemes is confirmed.

Page 17



4.2. Revenue Budget 2019/20

4.2.1. The budget set by Budget Council on 27th February 2019 was £216.221m, 
with no changes to date:

Budget Changes

Approved by When Reason for change Amount (£m)
Budget Council Feb-19 Approved budget 216.221
GRAND TOTAL 216.221

4.2.2 The overall position taking account of the projections currently being forecast 
by services as at the end of May 2019 is a pressure of £4.805m.

4.2.3 The major (>£0.250m) variations to controllable budget, by service, are 
detailed below:-

Adult Care - £1.500m Overspend

The Adult Care service is experiencing financial pressures from the number 
and costs of care packages for service users. There is a further pressure from 
the provision of statutory Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards assessments. 
These pressures are partially mitigated by in-year savings from staff turnover 
and vacancies.

The pressures are reflected in the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled 
Budget.

Children’s Services - £4.575m Overspend

Children’s services are projecting a pressure of £4.575m, which is largely 
attributed to 2018/19 growth in looked after children numbers as they continue 
to be cared for in 2019/20. In the first quarter of 2019/20, growth is showing 
signs of settling down, however it is realistic to expect some growth and this 
has been factored into the projected pressure. 

The remaining £0.147m pressure relates to the staffing retention strategy.  
Budget pressures funding has been requested, see section 4.2.4.

Children’s Services budgets are also included in the Integrated Health & 
Social Care Pooled Budget. However as previously agreed with the CCG, the 
pressure relating to looked after children is to be retained by the Council 
during 2019/20. 

In future years, the funding of pressures relating to Adult Care and Children’s 
Services will be subject to the development of the Pooled Fund 
commissioning arrangements.

 

Page 18



Budget Pressures

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2019/20 is £0.983m - £0.723m ongoing and 
£0.260m one-off. This is after taking into account previously approved budget 
pressure requests for 2019/20.  The following requests for funding have been 
made to the end of May 2019:

Economy:

 £0.050m one-off funding is required for the income budget associated with 
the Employment Links Contract due to recent notification of a significant 
reduction in the contract value in 2019/20. The Service is awaiting a 
decision regarding sources of funding which is expected shortly, and if 
received, this could mitigate the above pressure. 

 £0.059m ongoing funding is requested to fund an additional Enforcement 
post within Planning. The Head of Planning has identified major scope to 
improve business processes and customer experience and use this 
additional resource to boost non-statutory income, as well as accelerate 
developer interest and activity within the borough. For 2019/20 the 
requirement is £0.040m (part-year) and from 2020/21 £0.059m ongoing. 

Neighbourhoods:

 Street Lighting - £0.298m ongoing funding was approved at February 2019 
Cabinet, relating to the new utilities contract for the supply of electricity. 

Children’s Service:

 £0.147m ongoing in 2019/20 increasing to £0.347m onwards from 
2020/21 is requested for the Social Worker retention strategy to stabilise 
the workforce.  A reduction in agency spend is expected as a result of this 
investment and strategy.

Resources:

 £0.025m ongoing funding is requested due to legislative changes within 
payroll (real time information to HMRC) to enable the Council payroll to 
continue.

 £0.115m ongoing funding is requested for Electoral Reform. This is due 
to a reduction in grant received and an increase in costs. It is 
anticipated the budget pressure requirement in 2020/21 will rise to 
£0.172m.

If the above are approved, there will be a balance of £0.606m remaining in the 
budget pressure fund - £0.396m ongoing and £0.210m one-off for 2019/20.

4.2 Savings Update 2019/20

4.3.1 The total savings target for 2019/20 is £0.135m:

Page 19



 £0.135m of savings were approved at Council on 12th December 2019 

4.3.2  Services have not identified any issues for their non-achievement.

4.3 Collection Fund

4.4.1 The forecast Collection Fund Position for 2019/20 is a surplus of £1.345m, 
comprising:

 £0.758m surplus relating to Business Rates;
 £0.587m surplus relating to Council Tax.

4.4.2 The Collection Fund Update table in Appendix A shows the forecast surplus 
position on the Collection Fund as at 31st May 2019, and the allocation of the 
closing surplus between precepting authorities.

4.4.3 The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund surplus as at 31st May 
2019 is £1.250m. 

4.4.4 The main areas of overall variance to the budget are:     
 

 Business Rates:

Explanation of variance
Variation to 
budget, £000

Forecast reduced Empty Property and Retail Relief, partially 
offset by forecast increased Small Business Rates Relief and 
Mandatory Charitable relief

(826)

Actual deficit brought forward from 2018/19 is £68k lower than 
had been forecast as part of the 2019/20 Budget process. 

68

2019/20 forecast surplus (758)

 Council Tax:

Explanation of variance
Variation to 
budget, £000

Forecast reduced Council Tax gross income partially offset by 
lower forecast discounts given.

691

Forecast reduced charge relating to the bad debt provision. (733)

Forecast reduced level of Local Council Tax Support discount 
given.

(360)

Actual surplus brought forward from 2018/19 is £185k higher 
than had been forecast as part of the 2019/20 Budget process. 

(185)

2019/20 forecast surplus (587)

4.5. Alternatives considered

4.5.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 
are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 

Page 20



identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 
action.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. See Appendix A which provides an overview of budgets for Capital, Revenue 
and The Collection Fund detailed in section 4.

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no major legal implications arising as a result of this report except 
to note that debts that are recoverable can be enforced by court action in 
accordance with the court procedure rules.

6.

Consultation

7. All services engage with the production of the service based financial 
information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Finance, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance have been 
informed of the forecast 2019/20 financial position of the Council and its 
implications for future years. The report is presented to the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny on 23rd July 2019.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. For further information about this 
report or access to any 
background papers contact Stuart 
Smith

No1 Riverside Floor 2 

For Further Information Contact: Stuart Smith, 
Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk 
Tel : 01706 924196

Page 21

mailto:Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


FINANCE SERVICES

2019/20 P2 Finance Update Summary
Revenue Summary

Capital Summary

Revenue Key Movements/Variances
Children's
£4.575m Overspend - growth in looked after children numbers (£4.428m). The remaining £0.147m
pressure is requested as Budget Pressures funding within the report, relating to the staff retention
policy.

Adult Care are forecasting a pressure of £1.500m relating to the number and costs of care packages for
service users. There is a further pressure from the provision of statutory Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards assessments. These pressures are reflected in the Integrated Health & Social Care Pool.

Recommendations
Cabinet approves :
Budget Pressure Requests of:

Economy : £0.050m ongoing relating to Employment Links contract income target.
£0.059m ongoing funding for an additional Enforcement post within Planning,
£0.040 in 2019/20 (part year).

Children's: £0.147m ongoing, 2019/20 (£0.347m year 2020/21 onwards) relating to the
Social Worker retention policy.

Resources: £0.025m ongoing relating to Payroll software
£0.115m ongoing, 2019/20 (£0.172m 2020/21 onwards) relating to Electoral Reform.

Capital Budget Virement of:

Neighbourhoods: £0.943m of Place segment budget to enable the purchase of new
cremators at the Rochdale and Middleton sites.

Approved rephasing - Economy £3.5m
Town Hall square is rephased to bring it in line with restoration works at the Town Hall scheduled for 2022/23.

Adult Care Children's Economy Neighbourhoods Resources Total
P2 rephasing requested -                                     -                                     3,500                                 -                                     -                                     3,500                                 
Actual Spend to 31st May 2019 310                                     626                                     5,705                                 2,008                                 -                                     8,649                                 
Forecast Further Spend 2,834                                 27,212                               59,576                               27,876                               8,740                                 126,238                            
Approved Budget 3,144                                 27,838                               68,781                               29,884                               8,740                                 138,387                            

Directorate/ Detail
Budget 
Council

Virements/
Contingency Current Budget

Service and 
Corporate 

Uncontrollables

Current 
Controllable
Approved 

Net 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

In Year Saving/
(Overspend)

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Adult Care 15,415 1,577 16,992 3,997 12,995 12,995 0
Children's 21,585 1,127 22,712 19,110 3,602 8,177 (4,575)
Economy 15,993 380 16,373 804 15,569 15,659 (90)
Neighbourhoods 52,413 1,650 54,063 1,282 52,781 52,781 0
Public Health and Wellbeing 8,206 296 8,502 1,889 6,613 6,613 0
Resources 8,222 (553) 7,669 (3,692) 11,361 11,501 (140)
TOTAL GENERAL SERVICES SPENDING 121,834 4,477 126,311 23,390 102,921 107,726 (4,805)
Integrated Pool Budget Contribution 87,159 0 87,159 0 87,159 87,159 0
TOTAL POOLED BUDGETS 87,159 0 87,159 0 87,159 87,159 0
Finance Control: Corporately Held Budgets 4,139 (7,074) (2,935) (20,623) 17,687 17,687 0
Finance Control: Transformation Fund 1,719 2,984 4,703 0 4,703 4,703 0
Finance Control: Budget Pressures 1,370 (387) 983 0 983 983 0
TOTAL FINANCE CONTROL SPENDING 7,228 (4,477) 2,751 (20,623) 23,373 23,373 0

NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 216,221 0 216,221 2,767 213,453 218,258 (4,805)

P
age 22



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th July 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Neil Thornton
Public/Private Document Public

Budget 2020/21 to 2022/23 Guidelines, Timetable and Public Engagement

Executive Summary

1.

2.

To recommend the budget guidelines, timetable and method of public 
engagement to be used in preparing the detailed 2020/21 budget and 
provisional budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23.

To provide an update on the latest budget position for the Council and 
Heywood Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group.

Recommendation

2.1

2.1.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.1.4

2.2

2.3

Members are requested to consider and approve the following:

The proposed budget timetable detailed at Appendix 1.

The revenue assumptions detailed in section 4.2 to be incorporated into the 
budget setting process.

The revenue and capital budget principles referred to in section 4.5. 

The proposed methods of public engagement outlined in section 4.6 as part 
of the 2020/21 budget setting process.

Members are asked to note the updated Revenue Budget position for 
2020/21 to 2022/23.

Members are asked to note the Budget Review Sessions to be undertaken as 
part of the 2020/21 budget setting process.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Under the Budget & Policy Framework Cabinet is required to approve the 
proposed guidelines, timetable and methods of public engagement for setting 
the 2020/21 Budget and Provisional Budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23 by 
September each year.

Key Points for Consideration
Page 23

Agenda Item 8



4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.2

4.2.1

Timetable

The Council’s budget must be approved by full Council before 11th March 
each year. This is a statutory requirement. The process begins in July with 
approval being sought for the assumptions and principles on which the 
budget is to be based. These will be used as a part of the determination of 
the overall budget position.

Throughout the year we consult on the budget and savings proposals.  
Financial projections are updated as further information becomes available 
for the Local Government Finance Settlement and other known changes, 
including local decisions. The updated budget and feedback from 
consultations are reported back to Cabinet in February with 
recommendations for Budget Council, who will in turn set the budget.

Services are notified of their resource allocations following Budget Council in 
February. The full budget timetable is detailed at Appendix 1.

Revenue Budget Assumptions for 2020/21 – 2022/23

As part of the budget setting process the Council makes a number of 
assumptions in respect of the key elements of the Council’s revenue budget.  
Appendix 2 provides a summary of these assumptions for 2020/21, 2021/22 
and 2022/23. Future reports will make Cabinet aware of any changes that 
impact on the current budget assumptions. These are outlined below.

Local Government Funding Reforms 2020/21

2019/20 is the final year of the Government’s 4-year funding settlement and 
there is significant uncertainty over the level of Government funding the 
Council will receive from 2020/21 onwards. In his Spring Statement 2019 the 
Chancellor announced that, assuming a Brexit deal is agreed, he will launch 
a full three-year spending review before the summer break. The spending 
Review sets Government departmental budgets. Given the current 
uncertainty at Government level it is unclear whether the Spending Review 
will progress as planned.

There are multiple reforms to the system of Government funding for local 
authorities scheduled for 2020/21, including the Review of Relative Needs 
and Resources, the Business Rates Baseline Reset, and changes to the 
Business Rates Retention system.

Consultations were held in December 2018 on Business Rates Retention 
Reform and the new approach to distributing funding through the Review of 
Relative Needs and Resources. No further information has been published 
on the outcome of these consultations.

The Government intends to introduce transitional arrangements that will 
determine the basis on which authorities reach their new funding allocations. 
The transitional arrangements will take into account the wider factors taking 
place in 2020/21. It is intended that the transitional arrangements will unwind 

Page 24



4.2.2

over time so that each authority reaches its new funding allocations as soon 
as practicable. 

At this stage the impact of these reforms on individual authorities is 
unknown.  For planning purposes it has been assumed that the reforms to 
Local Government Funding will not be introduced until 2021/22, and that the 
level of funding received in 2020/21 will be at the same level as 2019/20. It 
has been assumed that funding will gradually reduce in 2021/22 and 
2022/23 under transitional arrangements. Any shortfall in the estimated 
Business Rates Top-up Grant following the reforms will be met from the 
Business Rates Reserve.

Given the current uncertainty over the Spending Review it is unclear 
whether the reforms to Local Government funding will progress as planned 
for 2020/21. We will continue to assess the likely financial implications for 
the Council, and as and when the Government issues further consultations 
on proposed funding reforms these will be reported to Cabinet. 

Business Rates

Rochdale is part of a Greater Manchester pilot for 100% business rates 
retention, which commenced in 2017/18 and will continue in 2019/20.  The 
pilot authorities each retain 100% of locally-raised business rates. In return 
Greater Manchester will forgo Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and the Public 
Health Grant. Authorities’ tariffs and top-ups are adjusted to ensure that 
these changes are without detriment to individual authorities. 

From 2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of their Business 
Rates income, incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant 
and other grants, with suitable transitional arrangements. There is currently 
no information on the impact for individual authorities of this change. Further 
information will be provided when available, however previously Central 
Government has assured Pilot Authorities that these will be “without financial 
detriment” to those Local Authorities in the pilot.

It is unclear whether the current 100% retention pilots will continue beyond 
2019/20. For planning purposes it has been assumed that the GM 100% 
Business Rates pilot will continue from 2020/21 to 2022/23. Business Rates 
growth income achieved under the pilot scheme is retained locally and 
shared 50/50 between the individual authorities and the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority. 

Since 2017/18 the Council has retained £4.8m additional growth income as 
a result of the GM 100% retention pilot scheme. This is held in the Business 
Rates Growth Reserve. The estimated additional pilot growth income of 
£2.9m for 2020/21 has been brought into the General Fund budget. No pilot 
growth income has been assumed in 2021/22 and 2022/23, pending the 
reset of Business Rates baselines as part of the current review of the Local 
Government Funding system.

The budget assumes, for planning purposes, a general increase in business 
rates charges of 2% in 2020/21, 2% in 2021/22, and 2% in 2022/23 in line 

Page 25



4.2.3

4.2.4

4.2.5

with the estimated CPI at September each year. The budget also assumes 
additional business rates income in relation to new developments in the 
borough, including Rochdale Riverside.

Council Tax Increase

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is to maximise income 
generated locally.

In 2019/20 the Council Tax referendum limit was increased by 1% for 
General Purposes in line with inflation, meaning that the limit was 3%. This 
is the amount a Local Authority can increase Council Tax by before a ballot 
with the Council Tax Payers of Rochdale must be undertaken. 

For planning purposes, a general increase in Council Tax of 2.99% has 
been assumed for 2020/21 and 2021/22, in line with expected referendum 
limits. A general increase of 1.99% has been assumed for 2022/23. 

The 2017/18 Local Government Finance settlement offered the flexibility to 
charge an Adult Social Care Precept of up to an additional 6% on Council 
Tax for the three years 2017/18 to 2019/20. The Government has not made 
an announcement on the future of the Adult Social Care precept for 2020/21 
onwards. For planning purposes a Social Care precept of 2% has been 
assumed for 2020/21. No further precept has been assumed for 2021/22 
and 2022/23.

Any variation in the level of Council Tax increase approved will have an 
impact on the forecast budget position.

Council Tax Base

The Council Tax base is currently 55,176, representing the number of Band 
D equivalent properties that the Council can collect Council Tax from.  The 
Council Tax base will be reviewed and formally considered by Cabinet in 
November of each year. The level of Council Tax Base is a key component 
in the calculation of resources available to the Council.

Improved Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund brings together elements of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Local Authority budgets into a pooled 
arrangement. This is to encompass integrated commissioning which will 
support the transformation and integration of health and social care services. 

The national Improved Better Care Fund allocation of £1.5bn in 2019/20 
assumed that councils will increase Council Tax for the Adult Social Care 
precept. The allocation methodology uses the 2013 social care relative 
needs formula and allocates funding against resources available. 
Rochdale’s allocation is £9.241m in 2019/20. 

In the March 2017 Budget the Government announced an additional £2bn to 
help local authorities provide high quality social care to more people and to 

Page 26



4.2.6

4.2.7

4.2.8

4.2.9

ease the pressure on the NHS. Rochdale’s allocation is £1.568m for 
2019/20.

No information has been provided by the Government on grant allocations 
for 2020/21 to 2022/23. The budget assumes the same funding levels as 
2019/20 for planning purposes.

Additional Funding for Social Care

An additional £240m was previously announced for Adult Care winter 
pressures in 2018/19, and a further £240m for 2019/20 was announced in 
the Autumn Budget 2018. Rochdale’s allocation for both 2018/19 and 
2019/20 was £1.1m. 

A further £410m was announced for 2019/20 for Adults and Children’s 
Social Care. Rochdale’s allocation was £1.9m. 

The Government has not announced whether additional Social Care funding 
will be provided for 2020/21 onwards. For planning purposes an amount of 
£1.5m has been assumed for 2021/22 and 2022/23, based on the 
allocations received in previous years and assuming the reforms to Local 
Government Funding are introduced from 2021/22.

New Homes Bonus

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) Scheme is designed to provide incentives 
and rewards for Local Authorities who have a net increase in housing stock 
and have brought empty properties back into use in their areas. From 
2019/20 the number of years the NHB is paid for is 4 years. Growth in 
housing stock will only be rewarded above a baseline of 0.4% of opening 
housing stock. The assumed level of New Homes Bonus grant in the budget 
is based on the estimated net growth in total housing stock, net of 
demolitions and the number of long-term empty properties.

The Government has not announced whether the New Homes Bonus 
scheme will continue following the review of Local Government Funding. For 
planning purposes it is assumed that the New Homes Bonus scheme will 
continue in its current form for 2020/21 to 2022/23.

Housing Benefit/Local Council Tax Support Scheme Administration 
Grants

The Council receives grants from Central Government for the administration 
of Housing Benefit and the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. The Council 
has yet to receive notification of the level of grants for 2020/21 and future 
years. Any shortfall in the grant received compared to the amounts 
estimated will be funded corporately.

Pay Inflation

The budget assumes for planning purposes that the pay award will be 2% 

Page 27



4.2.10

4.2.11

4.2.12

4.2.13

4.2.14

4.2.15

per annum for 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23. Any settlement above the 
assumed increase would increase the expenditure requirement for 2020/21 
to 2022/23. Every change of 1% equates to approximately £700k. 

The budget also reflects the Council’s commitment to pay, based on the 
Local Living Wage Rates for employees. The National Living Wage to 
increase by 4.9% from £7.83 to £8.21 per week from April 2019.  The 
Rochdale Living Wage for 2019/20 is £9 per week.

Increments

The Council’s biennial incremental progression policy is currently under 
review. Any savings previously assumed as a result of the current biennial 
policy have been removed from the budget pending this review.

Superannuation Rates

The employer superannuation contribution rate is assumed to increase by 
0.9% per annum in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

Price Inflation

The budget assumes 0% inflation per annum across the majority of the 
Council’s non-pay expenditure budgets. Contractual arrangements and other 
significant inflation issues will be considered on a case by case basis. 

Discretionary Fees and Charges

Discretionary Fees and Charges are reviewed on an annual basis. For 
2020/21 to 2022/23 no increase in Discretionary Fees and Charges has 
been assumed for planning purposes. 

Budget Growth/Pressures

The budget allows for estimated growth in Adult Care, Children’s Services 
and Neighbourhoods budgets as a result of demographic issues and the 
growth in the number of properties in the borough. 

The budget also recognises the estimated financial implications of demand 
pressures on Children’s Services budgets.

Recurrent Children’s Services pressures of £2.850m have been built into 
Pooled Fund Gap. Work is continuing with the Service to address the 
budget pressures in relation to Children's Strategy. The Government's 
Spending Review will potentially address the funding issues in relation to 
Children's Services. 

Manchester Airport Group 

The Council holds 3.22% of the issued share capital in the Manchester 
Airport Group. An additional £3m per annum has been assumed, increasing 
the overall budget from the investment in Manchester Airport Group to 

Page 28



4.2.16

4.2.17

4.2.18

4.2.19

£5.6m.

Waste Disposal Levy

The Waste Disposal Levy is calculated by a formula across Greater 
Manchester which takes account of recycling levels. If Rochdale Borough 
did not increase recycling at the same level as other GM Authorities, there 
would be an impact on the waste disposal levy charged to the Council thus 
leading to an increased cost to the Council’s budget. 

The Waste Disposal Levy assumed for in the budget is based on the latest 
projections provided by Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA). 
The Waste Disposal levy is estimated for planning purposes to increase by 
1.6% in 2020/21, 1.6% in 2021/22 and 0% in 2022/23.  The Waste Disposal 
Levy will be subject to consideration/agreement as a consequence of the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority’s budget setting process in 
2020/21 and subsequent years.

Passenger Transport Levy

In 2019/20 the Mayoral precept will be used to invest in bus reform, through 
grants to the districts. Rochdale will receive a grant of £0.648m in 2019/20 in 
order to offset the increase in the Transport Levy in respect of bus reform. 
The budget assumes a 1% increase in the underlying Passenger Transport 
Levy for 2020/21 to 2022/23. The Passenger Transport Levy will be subject 
to consideration/agreement as a consequence of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority’s budget setting process in 2020/21 and subsequent 
years

Greater Manchester Combined Authority Initiatives

Funding for any GMCA initiatives that have financial implications for 
individual authorities will be considered on a case by case basis.

Integration of Health & Social Care

From 2018/19 the Local Authority has been required to operate a formal 
pooled budget arrangement for health and social care, as part of the GM 
Health & Social Care Transformation Funding Programme. The pooling of 
resources across the locality will provide more opportunities to explore value 
for money, economies of scale, reduce duplication and streamline 
processes. A key driver is to have a one system approach, improving the 
quality of care provided to the individual.

The pooled budget brings together resources from a range of organisations 
including the Clinical Commissioning Group, the Local Authority, Better Care 
Funds and GM level resources to invest in transformation of service delivery, 
(known as Transformation Funding). 

The Council has continued to progress its joint Senior Manager 
arrangements with Heywood Middleton and Rochdale Clinical 
Commissioning Group (HMRCCG) to administrate and manage the pooled 

Page 29



4.3

4.3.1

4.3.2

budget created to deliver health and care integration in Rochdale. Posts are 
in place funded from the Pool. There is one post of Chief Executive of the 
Council and Accountable officer for the CCG. The Section 151 officer has 
delegated responsibility for the management of the pooled budget to the 
Chief Finance officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group to operate as one 
resource for the delivery of health and care. The pooled fund is administered 
through the Integrated Commissioning Board, which is a joint committee of 
Rochdale Council and to which members of the governing body of the 
HMRCCG are co-opted.

Integration of commissioning has progressed with health and social care 
commissioners working as one directorate to plan, organise and procure 
health, social care and public health services and support for all ages. 
Corporate services from the Council and HMRCCG are being reviewed and 
merged where this would add value and improve the service.  This has 
already taken place in finance with Human Resources, and other support 
services are being considered. The Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership (GMHSCP) Transformation Fund has awarded to 
Rochdale/ HMRCCG the sum of £25.2m to support the move from the 
previous model of health and care to one more focused on prevention and 
out of hospital support. The money is managed through the pooled fund. 

The delivery of health and care was contracted from the Local Care 
Organisation from April 2019. Health and care services will be provided 
through this partnership and over the last twelve months service delivery of 
integrated health and care teams, urgent care support care home support 
and intermediate tier services have been expanded to provide a better offer 
to patients and people in Rochdale. The Family Services model has 
progressed focusing on Children, young people and their families and has 
enhanced its support for mental wellbeing and early help for children across 
the whole system. The Family Services Model is proposed to move forward 
into an alliance partnership during the next twelve months.

It there is a shortfall in the delivery of the savings to be generated by the 
Transformation Fund this would generate a deficit on the pooled fund, and 
could be shared by the CCG and Rochdale Council based on the agreed 
risk sharing basis.

Updated Budget Gap 2020/21 to 2022/23

Overall Budget Gap

The assumptions that underpin the Council’s budget gap have been 
reviewed in line with the latest available information, as outlined in section 
4.2. This has been combined with the latest HMRCCG budget gap to 
produce a overall budget gap for the locality.

Table 1 summarises the current estimated Overall Budget Gap, split 
between the Local Authority and CCG budgets, and between the Pooled 
Fund and Non-pooled Fund budgets. 

Table 1 Overall Budget Gap 

Page 30



4.3.3

4.3.4

4.3.6

4.4

4.4.1

4.4.2

 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 £m £m £m
  
Local Authority 1.875 7.415 9.908
CCG 15.700 22.500 22.500
Children's Services Pressures 5.313 3.196 1.904
Total Budget Gap 22.888 33.111 34.312

 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 £m £m £m
  
Pooled Fund 14.754 22.167 23.057
Non Pooled 2.821 7.748 9.351
Children's Services Pressures 5.313 3.196 1.904
Total Budget Gap 22.888 33.111 34.312

The one-off Children’s Services pressures identified in the Children’s 
Strategy are shown separately. Recurrent Children’s Services pressures of 
£2.850m have been built into Pooled Fund Gap. Work is continuing with the 
Service to address the budget pressures in relation to Children's Strategy. 
The Government's Spending Review will potentially address the funding 
issues in relation to Children's Services. 

There remains significant uncertainty around the level of funding that the 
Council will receive from Central Government from 2020/21 onwards. The 
assumptions will be continually reviewed and updated as further information 
is received on the Government’s Spending Review and the reforms to Local 
Government Funding planned for 2020/21.

An analysis of the changes to the Budget Gap from the position reported to 
Budget Council in February 2019 and ICB March 2019 is provided in 
Appendix 3.

Capital

A review of the capital programme is currently being undertaken. This review 
will provide a three year capital programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 taking 
into consideration the estimated reduction in capital resources and the 
limited revenue funding available for Capital Schemes in these years. 

Aims of the Capital Programme
The Capital Programme aims to:

- Deliver investment in the Borough to support the Borough wide 
priorities, including economic benefit and gross value added to the 
Borough;

- Deliver investment in Service Provision to deliver future savings;
- Maintain and enhance the Council’s assets;
- Support Devolution;
- Meet Statutory provision;

Page 31



4.4.3

4.5

4.5.1

4.5.2

4.6

4.6.1

4.6.2

- Provide Value for Money.

A report to Cabinet in October will recommend the Capital Programme for 
2020/21 to 2022/23 for consideration. This will then be included as part of 
the 2020/21 budget consultation.

Budget Principles

Revenue Budget Principles - detailed guidelines are provided to all relevant 
staff to ensure that revenue budgets for individual services are prepared 
consistently. These guidelines contain details of the assumptions that are to 
be made in setting the revenue budget and also set out broad principles that 
are to be adhered to. The principles that are proposed for inclusion in the 
budget guidelines for 2020/21 to 2022/23 are provided at Appendix 4.

Capital Programme Principles have been developed to enable focus on the 
purpose of the Capital Programme and to seek agreement for the use of 
limited resources. The principles for the Capital Programme are provided at 
Appendix 5.

Public Engagement

The Council is intending to undertake a Public Engagement initiative during 
Autumn 2019, involving residents, businesses and other stakeholders as 
part of the consultation on the budget 2020/21 to 2022/23 and savings 
proposals.

As in previous years the initiative is intended to:

- raise awareness of the services that the Council currently delivers;

- raise awareness of the Council’s current budget position, both 
resources and expenditure;

- explain the future challenges as a result of funding reductions, 
increased demand for services and other pressures, and the difficult 
decisions we have to make;

- explain the integration of Health and Social Care budgets between 
the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group;

- highlight the part that residents and businesses can play in the future 
of Rochdale and in helping to reduce costs;

- highlight the need for the Council and residents/businesses to work 
together;

- highlight the development of the Co-operative Council approach;

- undertake a general conversation with stakeholders on their opinions 
and thoughts on the above.

Page 32



4.6.3

4.6.4

4.7

4.7.1

4.7.2

4.7.3

4.8

4.8.1

Wherever possible the intention will be to work alongside other engagement 
initiatives to raise awareness of the budget challenges, to seek views and 
also highlight how residents can help.

Public Engagement for the Budget 2020/21 is suggested to be undertaken 
as a three stage process:

A)  General Budget Conversation during July – September by :

 Prezi animated digital presentation – updated for 2020/21. 
 Edited Prezi animation – 10 x 25 second clips that can be shared on 

the Council’s Twitter, Facebook and website.
 Posters in public areas, to promote ‘have your say’ message and the 

online consultations.
 Social media posts – with links to online proposals.
 Council website updates – homepage and landing page banners, plus 

specific ‘Budget’ section as in previous savings consultations.
 Facebook advertising – promoting participation in the online 

consultations to residents.
 Media releases at appropriate stages during the budget process.
 Messages on digital screens and public PCs in libraries and other 

public buildings.

B)  Formal consultation of the Budget 2020/21 and savings proposals during 
October – December 2019.

C)  March 2020 – provide feedback online as to the engagement process 
and what is happening as a result of the resident participation in the Budget 
process.

Budget Review Sessions

As part of the budget process, Budget Review Sessions will be held for each 
of the Council’s Priority Areas: People; Place and Prosperity. There will also 
be sessions reviewing Support Services and Fixed Costs.

The aim of the sessions is:

 For Directors to provide service information to enable Members to 
scrutinise spend and service priorities;

 To enable a review process to be undertaken on budgets; 
 To review options for savings over the next three years to meet the 

budget gap in 2020/21 – 2022/23.

Sessions are also being held with Wider Leadership Team to explore areas 
where the Council can maximise income generation opportunities.

Alternatives Considered

The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget. The budget setting 
process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. It is equally 

Page 33



important that assumptions used in the preparation of the budget are 
agreed, reasonable and consistently applied by all services.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 Financial implications are considered in the main body of the report.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.1.1

6.1.2

Risk Implications 

The budget forecast has been based on a number of assumptions, known 
levels of expenditure and anticipated levels of resources. Final confirmation of 
these assumptions will not be received until November/December this year. 

There are a number of areas of the Council’s budget where risks to the 
projections contained in this report have been identified. The most significant 
of these are:

 Monitoring of the 2019/20 budget will provide Cabinet with regular 
updates on any budget pressures/savings for the Council. Any 
associated on going implications will be incorporated into the budget 
projections for 2020/21 and future years.

 Savings – the level of savings required for 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23 is currently being considered. There is a risk to the overall 
budget of the non-achievement of these savings due to the 
identification and/or implementation of the proposals. A three year 
budget is to be set in February 2020 which provides time to implement 
the level of savings required to balance the budget over the period 
2020/21 to 2022/23.

 Spending Review 2019 and Local Government Funding Reforms – the 
impact of the Spending Review 2019 and Local Government Funding 
Reforms scheduled for 2020/21 on the level of Government funding, 
including the Business Rates Top-up Grant, that the Council will 
receive from 2020/21 onwards is unknown at this stage. 

 Specific Grants and Contributions – the number and amount of 
specific grants, including the Improved Better Care Fund, Additional 
Social Care funding and New Homes Bonus, received by the Council 
may be lower/higher than anticipated. 

 Council Tax – Central Government provides a cap on the Council Tax 
increase a Local Authority can make before a referendum of the local 
residents is required. The budget assumes a 4.99% increase in 
2020/21 (2.99% increase for general purposes and 2% increase in 
respect of the social care precept); 2.99% in 2021/22 (2.99% increase 
for general purposes and 0% increase for the social care precept) and 
1.99% in 2022/23 (1.99% increase for general purposes and 0% 
increase for the social care precept). These percentage increases are 

Page 34



included for planning purposes only, and will be reviewed by Cabinet 
leading up to a recommendation at Budget Council for each year. The 
impact of a 1% change in the level of Council Tax increase would be 
approximately £880k.

 Local Council Tax Support Scheme – the budget assumes that the 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme remains unchanged. The impact 
on the budget of a 5% change in the maximum discount allowed 
(currently 85%) would be approximately £530k.

 Business Rates – it has been assumed for planning purposes that the 
Greater Manchester 100% Retention Pilot will continue. Once the 
Government’s proposals for the Business Rates retention system for 
2020/21 become clear the financial implications will be reviewed and 
the budget assumptions updated.

 Council Services - the impact of the economic climate on the residents 
of Rochdale Borough and the increased demand this may lead to for 
Council services could impact on cost of services, as could general 
demographic changes.

 Health and Social Care Devolution – the impact of pooling budgets 
with the Clinical Commissioning Group within a Pooled Budget. The 
financial risk is that the investment in health and social care services 
does not deliver the benefits assumed. These benefits are required 
not only to fund interventions to invest to save in the long term, but 
also to contribute towards closing the budget gaps of all partners 
delivering health and social care services.

 Waste Disposal Levy – the Waste Disposal Levy is calculated by a 
formula across Greater Manchester, which takes account of recycling 
levels. Should Rochdale Borough not increase recycling at the same 
level as other GM Authorities this will impact on the levy, and would 
lead to an increased cost to the Council’s budget. 

 Inflation – impact of changes in the price of goods and services used 
by the Council compared to the percentage assumed in the budget 
projections. 

 Fees and charges income – impact of any economic slowdown on 
levels of usage of charged for Council services could lead to income 
levels not being achieved.

 Manchester Airport Group dividend – the amount of dividend received 
will be dependent on the performance of the Manchester Airport 
Group.

 Investment income – the impact of low interest rates and implications 
of any economic slowdown on the level of dividends/interest received 
by the Council.

 Academies – the impact of the Government’s policies regarding the 

Page 35



6.2

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

6.2.5

6.2.6

6.3

6.3.1

conversion of schools to Academies on the Council’s budget.

Legal Implications

The Council is under a duty to calculate the budget in accordance with 
Section 32 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and must make three 
calculations namely: an estimate of the Council’s gross revenue expenditure; 
an estimate of anticipated income; and a calculation of the difference 
between the two. The amount of the budget requirement must be sufficient to 
meet the Council’s budget commitments and ensure a balanced budget. The 
amount of the budget requirement must leave the Council with adequate 
financial reserves. The level of budget requirement must not be 
unreasonable having regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its Council Tax 
payers and non-domestic rate payers.  

Failure to make a lawful Council Tax on or before 11th March could have 
serious financial results for the Council and make the Council vulnerable to 
an Order from the Courts requiring it to make a specified increase in Council 
Tax.

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on 
local authorities to make arrangements for ‘the proper administration of their 
financial affairs'.
 
Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand 
notice. The Secretary of State has made regulations, which require charging 
authorities to issue demand notices in a form and with contents prescribed by 
these regulations. 

There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons or 
bodies appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-domestic 
rates in each area about proposals for expenditure (including capital 
expenditure) for each financial year.

To support Brexit preparations, the 2018 Budget confirmed that the 
Government will have invested over £4 billion in preparing for the EU exit 
since 2016. The settlement did not contain any announcement on funding to 
support councils to prepare for Brexit.
According to the LGA: 

 Councils are making preparations for Brexit, without extra funding to 
support this additional work

 The LGA has stated that MHCLG should ensure any new 
responsibilities or added financial pressures for councils arising from 
Brexit are fully funded 

 No such announcement has been made to date by the Treasury which 
increases the risk of a funding gap in this area  

Personnel Implications

The report outlines the proposed timetable for preparing the detailed 
2020/21 budget and this timetable includes the requirement to undertake 

Page 36



formal workforce consultation with the staff and trade unions. The 
consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s established 
formal staff consultation processes including meetings of the Joint 
Consultative Negotiation Group (JCNG).

Equalities Impacts 

Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment
Workforce equality impact assessments will be provided with any savings 
proposals and an overall workforce equality impact assessment on the 
budget will be presented to facilitate final decision making.

Equality/Community Impact Assessments
Equality Impact assessments will be provided with any savings proposals 
and an overall equality impact assessment on the budget will be presented to 
facilitate final decision making.

6.4

6.4.1

6.4.2

Consultation

7.1

7.2

Stakeholders are consulted at appropriate stages throughout the budget 
preparation process. The Council is intending to carry out a Public 
Engagement initiative during Autumn 2019 involving residents, businesses 
and their representative bodies and other stakeholders.

Consultation with the Trade Unions via the Joint Consultative Negotiation 
Group (JCNG) will be undertaken and the outcome of consultations will be 
considered by Cabinet.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Neil Thornton – Director of Resources

neil.thornton@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 92545004

Page 37

mailto:neil.thornton@rochdale.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Budget Timetable 2020/21 to 2022/23 – Key Meeting Dates

Date Reporting Timeline

2019

July 

Corporate O&S 23rd July
Cabinet 30th July 
  1. Budget Guidelines and Timetable
  2. Updated Budget Gap
  3. Public Engagement 

September

Informal Cabinet 3rd September
Budget Cabinet 17th September
1. Revenue Budget 2020/21 - 2022/23
2. MTFS 2020/21 - 2024/25

October

Informal Cabinet 1st October
Cabinet 29th October
1. Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23 - Pre consultation
2. Discretionary Fees & Charges 2020/21    } for consultation
3. Savings Programme 2020/21 for consultation

Consultation Starts 30th October (45 days)

November

Informal Cabinet 5th November
Budget Cabinet 12th November
Corporate O&S 19th November 
1. Revenue Budget 2020/21 - 2022/23                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
2. Council Tax and Business Rates Bases 2020/21

December Consultation ends 14th December

2020

January

Special Informal Cabinet TBC January
Cabinet 21st January
1. Revenue Budget Update 2020/21 - 2022/23
2. Capital Programme 2020/21 - 2022/23 post consultation
3. Discretionary Fees & Charges 2020/21 - Post Consultation
4. Savings Programme 2020/21 post consultation

February

Informal Cabinet 4th February
Corporate O&S 11th February
Cabinet 12th February
Council 26th February
1. Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21
2. MTFS 2020/21 - 2024/25
3. Local Government Act 2003
4. Revenue Budget and Council tax 2020/21
5. Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 2020/21

Page 38



APPENDIX 2

Key Budget Assumptions 2020/21 to 2022/23

 

Area of Budget 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Council Tax
General Increase 2.99% 2.99% 1.99%
Social Care Precept 2.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Total Council Tax Increase 4.99% 2.99% 1.99%
LCTSS (Maximum Discount) 85% 85% 85%
Collection Rate 97.5% 97.5% 97.5%

Business Rates
Business Rates Top Up Grant -0.9% -5.8% -10.2%
RBC share of GM Pilot Growth (£m) 2.897 0.000 0.000

Other Resources
Improved Better Care Fund (£m) 10.809 10.809 10.809
Additional Social Care Funding (£m) 0.000 1.500 1.500
Manchester Airport Dividend 3.000 3.000 3.000

Service Budgets
Prices General* 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Pay Award 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Superannuation Contribution Rate 21.4% 22.3% 23.2%
Discretionary Fees & Charges 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Underlying Waste Disposal Levy 1.6% 1.6% 0.0%
Underlying Passenger Transport Levy 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%
Children's Services Pressures (£m) 5.313 3.196 1.904

* Prices – Contractual arrangements and other significant inflation 
issues will be considered on a case by case basis. 

Page 39



APPENDIX 3
Movement in Budget Gap

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£m £m £m

Local Authority
Recurrent Gap as per Budget Council 27/02/2019 1.956 3.344 4.025
Local Authority Pooled Gap as per ICB 26/04/2019 12.213 17.214 17.214
Children's Pressures as per Funding Strategy 5.506 3.278 2.195

19.675 23.836 23.434

CCG Gap
Outside of the Pool 2.700 2.700 2.700
CCG Pooled Fund Pressures 9.545 9.545 9.545
Total CCG Pressure 12.245 12.245 12.245

Total Budget Gap reported to Budget Council/ICB 31.920 36.081 35.679

Changes to LA Gap Assumptions
Additional Resources to the Council -13.217 -14.519 -14.538
Allowance for inflationary increases 1.950 2.020 3.851
Pooled Fund Gap Ongoing Savings -0.645 -0.645 -0.645
2020/21 One-off Savings -0.382 0.000 0.000

-12.294 -13.143 -11.331

Changes to CCG Assumptions
Pooled Fund - CCG Gap assumptions 5.721 9.821 9.821
Non Pool Gap - CCG 1.000 3.700 3.700
Pooled Fund Gap Ongoing Savings -3.266 -3.266 -3.266

3.455 10.255 10.255

Reduction in Children's Services Pressures -0.193 -0.082 -0.291

Revised Gap
Local Authority 1.875 7.415 9.908
CCG 15.700 22.500 22.500
Children's Services Pressures 5.313 3.196 1.904
Updated Total Budget Gap 22.888 33.111 34.312

Page 40



APPENDIX 4

REVENUE BUDGET PRINCIPLES

1. Budget Preparation

1.1 Service estimates are required at service level for the years 2020/21 to 
2022/23.  The format of the service submissions, which are to be 
supported by appropriate working papers, will be determined by the Chief 
Financial Officer in consultation with Directors.

1.2 Estimate preparation should take account of technical guidance issued 
from time to time on local authority accounting practices and other related 
issues.

1.3 The budget process shall adhere to the approved timetable.

2. Existing Service Level Budgets

2.1 The budget will initially be prepared on the basis that current resources 
support existing service levels and with the exception of the schools 
budget should be varied to reflect:
(a) The full year effect of previous year’s savings proposals.
(b) Consequences of the approved capital programme.
(c) Adjustments in relation to specific ‘one year only’ allocations and other 

time expired funding.
(d) Other specific Council decisions.

2.2 Most education and related budgets are funded through a specific grant 
namely the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Separate systems and 
procedures relating to DSG funded budgets operate outside of the 
mainstream budget guidelines.  

2.3 Salary budgets are to be prepared with reference to the 2020/21 budget 
(net of any vacancy factor) adjusted for pay awards, approved service 
changes, savings and other approved variations. The salary budgets can 
only be used to employ staff in established posts on approved grades in 
line with the following conditions:

(a) All changes to the establishment where Council funding is available in 
full must be approved by Cabinet, or within the requirements of the 
Scheme of Delegation.

(b) All changes to the establishment where resource implications arise, 
even if the costs are met entirely from external funding, must also be 
approved by Cabinet, or within the requirements of the Scheme of 
Delegation.

(c) Posts funded from external sources must be established as temporary 
or specific purpose posts unless it can be demonstrated that:
 the external funding is permanent, or
 specific approval has been given, or

Page 41



 future years’ costs can be contained within current budgets.

(d) Directors must balance service requirements against the need to 
manage within their budgets when taking decisions to fill vacant posts 
or employ temporary staff.

3.        Discretionary Fees and Charges

3.1 Fees and charges must be reviewed on an annual basis.  A report will be 
submitted to Cabinet in October each year on proposals for the following 
year. 

3.2 Services may bring forward proposals to Cabinet to amend existing fees 
and charges, or to introduce new fees and charges.  

4. External Funding

4.1 Wherever possible external funding should be used to reduce pressure 
on current expenditure, thereby releasing resources for redirection into 
priority areas.

4.2 All legal, human resources, financial and administrative support costs 
required to manage grant conditions and fulfill the role of the accountable 
body should be charged, wherever possible, against the funding regime.

5. Integration of Health & Social Care

5.1 From 2018/19 the Local Authority is required to operate a formal pooled 
budget arrangement for health and social care, as part of the GM Health 
& Social Care Transformation Funding Programme.

5.2 As part of the pooled budget arrangement, the Council and HMRCCG will 
enter into a Section 75 Agreement and a Risk Sharing Agreement.

6. Consultation

6.1 Members will take account of consultations with stakeholders at 
appropriate stages throughout the budget preparation process. This will 
include Townships, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Trade 
Unions, partners and the public.

Page 42



APPENDIX 5 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME PRINCIPLES

1. Capital Programme Preparation

1.1 The Capital Programme is compiled at project level for the years 2020/21 
to 2022/23.  The format of the capital schemes submissions, which are to 
be supported by appropriate working papers, will be determined by the 
Chief Financial Officer in consultation with Directors. 

1.2 Estimate preparation should take account of technical guidance issued 
from time to time on local authority accounting practices and other related 
issues. The profiling of capital expenditure into the correct financial years 
and over the project’s development will be key to ensure the amount of re 
phasing of capital resources from one year to another is kept to a 
minimum, and to reduce the amount of revenue budget required to 
finance the project.

1.3 The budget process shall adhere to the approved timetable.

2. Principles for the Capital Programme

2.1 Capital Resources are to be used as follows:

 Decisions on the use of Capital Receipts will be considered as part of 
the budget process.

 Un-ring fenced and ring fenced externally funded grants are 
considered on a case by case basis.

 Any new borrowing is considered with the implications for the revenue 
budget position.

2.2 Capital projects for approval are:

 Considered by Portfolio Holders for the service who agree to the 
services requests for funding.

 Completed to ensure all implications of the Capital Scheme are 
included in the ‘Business Cases’.

 Inclusive of Multi Year Schemes with spend profiled accurately across 
the financial years.

Page 43



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th July 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Planning, Development & 
Housing

Report Author Janet Butterworth
Public/Private Document Public

Disposal of Land at Starkey Street / Langton Street Heywood

Executive Summary

1. The sites at Starkey Street and Langton Street in Heywood are recommended 
for disposal.  The sites are considered to be surplus to the Council’s 
operational requirements.  The sale of the sites would generate a capital 
receipt for the Council and reduce its maintenance liabilities.

Consultation has been carried out with the North Heywood ward councillors 
and the Chair of Heywood Township.  Objections have been raised to the sale 
of Langton Street car park – plot 3 on the plan below.

In view of the objections raised at Township Cabinet is requested to consider 
the future of this site by using its powers to release these sites for disposal.

Recommendation

2. It is recommended that:

i. The sites at Starkey Street and Langton Street are declared surplus to 
requirements and released for disposal on the open market.

ii. The Head of Legal Service be authorised to prepare the appropriate 
legal documents and execute such documents on behalf of the Council.

iii. The purchaser pays the Council’s legal and surveyor’s costs.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Director of Economy is charged with the continual review of the Council’s 
land and property holdings to identify those that are surplus to requirements 
and could be sold. The Director of Economy is aiming to expose 25 sites to 
the market during 2019/20.

Plots 1 and 2 on the plan below are areas of open space that have low 
amenity value.  Plot 3 is a community car park that is used mainly by local 
businesses.  Together the sites form a valuable development plot that would 
support a small residential development.

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

The 3 sites together form an area of around 0.14 ha and make an attractive 
and viable development opportunity.

Recent sales demonstrate a strong demand in the area for housing sites.

Alternatives Considered
The site could be retained in its current use. Retention of this site will not 
secure capital receipts or beneficial development, nor reduce the Council’s 
financial and/or environmental liabilities. Retaining this site in its current use 
carries the risk of liabilities such as fly-tipping, anti-social behaviour and 
regular or ad hoc maintenance obligations

Plot 3 could be retained as a car park and only plots 1 and 2 released for 
development.  

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The disposal of the sites would generate a capital receipt for the council.

The retention of Plot 3 as a car park places an ongoing maintenance liability 
on the township for which there is currently no budget.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. The disposal will meet the objectives of the Council’s Asset Strategy by 
reducing the number of Council owned assets and financial liabilities. 
Disposal of the site will facilitate the development of additional housing in this 
popular area of Heywood.

The Council is committed to release surplus assets and to continually review 
its need to hold land and property assets. Disposal of surplus assets assists 
the Council in its provision of services by producing capital receipts, reducing 
borrowing, reducing grant reliance and assists in achieving the efficiency 
targets. The disposal of surplus assets reduces the Council’s liabilities and 
the release of development opportunities encourages economic activity in the 
Borough. 

It is government policy that local authorities should dispose of surplus land 
where possible. Local authorities have various statutory powers to dispose of 
property. The only constraint is that, except with the consent of the Secretary 
of State, the disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably 
obtainable and terms should be negotiated accordingly.

Consultation

7. Consultation has taken place with colleagues in Legal Services, Planning, 
Highways and Environmental Management

Consultation was undertaken with the North Heywood Ward councillors and 

Page 45



the chair of Heywood Township in November 2018. Ward councillors oppose 
the disposal of the car park (plot 3). Whilst no reason was given for this 
position it is assumed that the car park is considered to have amenity value 
in the community.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Janet Butterworth, Tel: 01706 923271, 
janet.butterworth@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 46



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th July 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

Extra School Places - Determination of Statutory Proposals for 
Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, and Additional 

Capacity.

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

To present the responses to the published proposals for the enlargement of 
the following Rochdale Schools and to ask for Cabinet to determine those 
proposals: Castleton Primary and Crossgates Primary

To present the responses to the published proposals for the creation of an 
Autism resourced provision at Shawclough Primary and ask Cabinet to 
determine on the proposal.

To seek approval for expenditure on Primary school additional places in the 
south Rochdale Township.

To seek approval for expenditure in the borough Secondary Schools for extra 
capacity for 2020 September intake.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

Cabinet is asked to consider the responses submitted to the published 
statutory proposals and taking account of the statutory guidance for Decision 
Makers to:

Approve the enlargement of Castleton Primary School by providing an 
additional 30 places in each new admission year group. The enlargement 
would make permanent an admission number of 60 from September 2019.

Note the rejection of the enlargement of Crossgates Primary School and retain 
the admission number at 45 places per year group.

Approve the creation of an autism Resourced Provision at Shawclough 
Primary school to provide an additional 12 places for children with an EHCP 
for autism.

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



2.4

2.5

2.6

Approve expenditure for the implementation of an expansion at St Johns 
Thornham; for invitations to tender to be issued and accepted and for the 
supporting contracts, and any incidental and ancillary documentation, to be 
signed in order to deliver the scheme in accordance with Financial 
Regulations. 

Approve expenditure for additional funds for the implementation of the plan to 
deliver up to 120 extra secondary school places within the boroughs existing 
schools for the 2020 intake year to meet the predicted need.

Approve additional Basic Need Programme spend for the projects named in 
2.4 and 2.5 above at £2,185,000 as set out in Appendix 1.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The need for extra primary school places was detailed in the report to Cabinet 
on the 26/02/2019. 

Each local authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficient number of 
places in each of their areas.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Extra primary school capacity is needed permanently in South–west Rochdale 
Township with Castleton Primary school already having taken temporary 
admission number increases in the intake year for 2016 and 2017 and in 2017 
in their year 3 group. Increases in birth rates, and additional house building in 
the area of Castleton, Balderstone and Kirkholt, require the expansion in 
Castleton Primary. There was one response from the consultation in favour of 
the expansion (Appendix 2).

Too much spare capacity has been an issue previously in the south Pennines 
(Milnrow and Newhey ward). Spare places previously provided at Moorhouse 
did not get taken up which is difficult for the school to manage and costly for 
the council. The area sees little net movement of pupils and historically sees a 
net loss of numbers between birth and children attending school. Since the 
council does have facilities for temporary spare capacity in the area the 
expansion of Crossgates Primary School is being rejected at this time. There 
were 14 responses from the consultation on Crossgates; 13 against and 1 for 
expansion (Appendix 2). 

Rates of EHCP’s for autism in the borough are rising and the council has, 
outside its special school sector, no capacity to meet the need for this type of 
specialist support. The Resourced Provision at Shawclough Primary school 
will provide a much needed extra resource in this area of need. There were 2 
responses from the consultation, both in favour of the provision. Cabinet to 
note expenditure for Shawclough Primary was provided through the DfE 
funded SEN Capital Fund and expenditure approved by Cabinet on 
24/07/2018.

The consultation on the primary school expansion proposals was discussed by 

Page 48



4.5

4.6

4.7

the Children’s Council  and feedback given. The children were obviously well 
informed and did pick up most of the issues we do consider when looking at 
possible impacts. A summary of the images and flip charts used to record the 
children’s views is attached at  Appendix 3.

St John’s Primary in Thornham is a very small but popular school. It has for 
years delivered classes in 2 classrooms with a capacity of approximately70 
children. With the growth in housing in both Castleton and Middleton the 
school has supported the authority by taking additional children and increasing 
its admission number. It currently has 91 children on roll. The need for extra 
primary school capacity in Castleton has dictated that the school be supported 
in its requirement for additional classroom spaces and this will allow the school 
to move to a published admission (PAN) number of 15 for 2020. The design of 
the additional accommodation will take into account, if the need arises, the 
ability of the school to move to a 30 PAN intake in the future. The school, as a 
Voluntary Aided school, ran their own consultation exercise on this expansion. 
Funding required for the first phase of this extension to take the school from 
an admission number of 12 to 15 in 2020 is noted in Appendix 1.

The report to Cabinet on Capital Investment in Schools on the 18/03/2019 
noted expenditure on possible extra secondary school places for 2020, and 
the Secondary School places 2019 and 2020 intake report to Cabinet in 
26/02/2019 noted a need for temporary or modular accommodation for the 
2020 intake at a cost of £500,000. Additional funding to meet the required 120 
extra places is needed and this is noted in Appendix 1.

Alternatives Considered

The School Organisation and Development Team within Early Help and 
Schools  looks to listen to suggestions from the consultations it runs on extra 
capacity in both its primary and secondary school estates. The consultation 
held with stakeholders in the area of Crossgates Primary school was difficult 
and the decision to currently reject the expansion at Crossgates Primary for 
2021 may have to be revisited in the future.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant.  

A cost of £2,185,000 to increase for the secondary capacity for 2020 (4.6) and 
for the extra expansion proposal mentioned in paragraph 4.5 will be funded by 
the EFA annual allocations of Basic Need capital budget (appendix 1).

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s 
statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue funding from the Council’s 
Growth Fund, which is part of the Dedicated Schools Grant and is approved 
by Schools Forum.

Page 49



Risk and Policy Implications

The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 (“the 1996 
Act”) to ensure the provision of sufficient schools for primary and secondary 
education in their area. Under s.14 of the 1996 Act, a local authority shall 
secure that sufficient schools for providing primary and secondary education 
are available in their area. 

In addition under Section 14A of the 1996 Act it is necessary for a local 
authority to consider parental representations about the exercise of their
functions in relation to the provision of primary and secondary education
under Section 14 of the 1996 Act. 

The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the 
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school 
admissions.

There are no other known implications from this particular report  ie 
Personnel, Equalities or Financial.

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Consultation

7. Responses from the consultations on Castleton Primary, Crossgates Primary 
and Shawclough Primary are contained in Appendix 2.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies -  
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 50



APPENDIX 2 Castleton, Crossgates & Shawclough Consultation Responses

Question Response Any Further Details Date
I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Castleton Primary School

Yes 07/05/2019

Question Response Any Further Details Date
I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No Point 8.2 is incorrect because all the 
neighbouring schools are not full.

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No Neighboring schools are not full - 
there is no need to increase the PAN.    
How can you justify the increase 
when there are ample places 
available in very good neighboring 
schools.

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No Local schools are not full. This is not 
true. There is no need.

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No As a governor at a nearby school I am 
aware that the nearby schools are 
NOT full with the exception of one, 
and there is no requirement for 
Crossgates to have an enlargement.

The Council should put its resources 
in supporting other local schools as 
opposed to supporting just one.

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No The published statutory proposal is in 
accurate.  It states in section 8.2 that 
'all of the neighbouring schools are 
full.'  This is factually incorrect.   A 
number of schools within Pennines 
South are not full in reception for 
AY19-20, as the Local Authhoeity will 
be well aware.   There is, therefore, 
no prima facia case for enlargement 
of Crossgates.  Indeed, this 
enlargement could have the 
consequence of further pupil number 
reductions in neighbouring schools 
with commensurate reductions in 
revenue funding for those schools. 

07/05/2019

Page 51



APPENDIX 2 Castleton, Crossgates & Shawclough Consultation Responses

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

Yes There is a serious need for primary 
school places across the borough due 
to an increase     ( blip)  in the birth 
rate a few years ago.

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 08/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 09/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No Cross gates already have an intake of 
45. Increasing this number would 
adversely affect other schools in the 
area.

09/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 09/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 09/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 8.2 of the proposal is not correct - 
other neighbouring schools are not 
full - and if more spaces are provided 
at Crossgates this will have an affect 
on the these schools - all the 
neighbouring primary schools are 
struggling for the next couple of 
years already with funding and this 
will no doubt have an affect on them 
if this goes ahead

15/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the enlargement of 
Crossgates Foundation 
Primary School 

No 15/05/2019

Page 52



APPENDIX 2 Castleton, Crossgates & Shawclough Consultation Responses

Question Response Any Further Details Date
I support the proposal 
for the creation of a 
special primary 
education resourced 
provision unit for autism 

Yes I feel this is a necessary provision and  
is very much needed

07/05/2019

I support the proposal 
for the creation of a 
special primary 
education resourced 
provision unit for autism 

Yes This will meet the need and high 
demand for provision for some of our 
vulnerable children.

16/05/2019

Page 53



Appendix 3: Feedback to Children’s Councillors at Primary schools

Dear Angela,

Thank you for sending us the feedback. It is clear that they (the children) have thought about the 
consequences both good and bad for the schools. The issue of making and maintaining friends is 
clearly important and they are quite right that any changes in a school, especially growth, does have 
impacts on friendship groups. Mental health within school was also mentioned, and while it  is in the 
media frequently at the moment, it is great that children are talking about it and think that it is 
important to consider.

The flipcharts are excellent in that they clearly pick up on the issues of worry about schools being 
“too big” but also that bigger schools do mean more funding and resources. It is a dilemma, and one 
that we do constantly reassess to make sure the right decision is made about any expansion.

Also there is the fact that is not mentioned, that we cannot be in a position where children have no 
school place. Children having to travel too far to school because of lack of spaces locally mean that 
those children are disadvantaged when trying to form friendship groups.

Thank you for the feedback. It will be summarised and fed into the report that goes to the council 
Cabinet about the consultations.

Kind regards

Fay

School Place Planning Manager

Early Help & Schools

Page 54



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 62

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme
	7 Finance Update Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Finance Update Report 2019/20

	8 Budget 2020/21 to 2022/23 Guidelines, Timetable and Public Engagement
	9 Disposal of Land at Starkey Street / Langton Street Heywood
	10 Extra School Places - Determination of Statutory Proposals for Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, and Additional Capacity
	Append. 2 for Extra School Places - Determination of Statutory Proposals for Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, and Additional Capacity
	Append. 3 for Extra School Places - Determination of Statutory Proposals for Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, and Additional Capacity

	12 Land at William Street and Tonge Meadow, Middleton
	Append. 1 for Land at William Street and Tonge Meadow

	13 Appendix 1 - Extra School Places - Determination of Statutory Proposals for Enlargements and SEN Resourced Provision, and Additional Capacity

